A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 

John Jackson, Sr., petitioner here and appellant below, 

asks this Court to accept review of the published Court of 

Appeals decision terminating review dated August 20, 2019, 

pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b). A copy of the 

decision is attached. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

It has long been established that a judge may not order 

an accused person shackled during court hearings without any 

individualized inquiry into the need for such restraints. Despite 

this clear constitutional doctrine, the trial court adopted a 

blanket policy that all defendants who are unable to post bail 

would be physically restrained during all court proceedings. Due 

to this policy, and without any individualized inquiry, Mr. 

Jackson was shackled at all court hearings, including when he 

testified at his jury trial. 

In a published decision with a sharply written 

concurrence, the Court of Appeals acknowledged the judge acted 

unconstitutionally by following a blanket shackling policy 

written by the county jail. A two-judge majority claimed this 
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error is presumptively prejudicial but it put the burden on Mr. 

Jackson to prove it has "substantial or injurious effect on the 

jury's verdict." A third judge wrote separately to complain that 

the Court of Appeals routinely finds shackling impermissible yet 

harmless error. 

Should this Court grant review because the trial court 

adopted a blanket policy mandating shackling without an 

individualized inquiry that is contrary to established law, the 

Court of Appeals required Mr. Jackson to prove a substantial 

injury rather than presume he was prejudiced as case law 

mandates, and substantial public interest favors addressing the 

routine use of shackling for people who are unable to post bail as 

part of this Court's oversight of the fundamental fairness of trial 

court proceedings? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

At John Jackson Sr.'s first court appearance following his 

arrest, he was brought to court shackled in full chains that 

bound his hands, belly, and feet. RP 6. His attorney objected and 

filed a. written motion opposing these five-point restraints. Id. 

Defense counsel reminded the court he distributed this same 
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motion to all judges the prior week, and advised the court and 

prosecution it would object to routine shackling in court. RP 7. 

The judge refused to address Mr. Jackson's objection to 

the shackles, saying he wanted to give the State time to 

respond, and set a hearing for one month in the future. RP 6, 8. 

The judge kept Mr. Jackson in shackles. He denied Mr. 

Jackson's request to be released on his own recognizance and set 

$35,000 bail, which Mr. Jackson was unable to post. RP 11-12. 

Six weeks later, the judge combined a number of cases 

where people complained about being shackled in court and 

issued a written decision applying broadly to all jailed 

defendants. CP 61. The court agreed less restrictive methods 

would serve the needs of courtroom security and eliminate the 

humiliation and distraction defendants feel when restrained. CP 

65. But the court ruled that until the county installed 

videoconferencing, it would adopt the jail's policy of shackling 

any person who was brought to court from the jail. CP 65-66. 

Due to this shackling policy, Mr. Jackson was either held 

in full "5 point" restraints or had chains on his waist and 

handcuffs at every court hearing. CP 75. 
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When Mr. Jackson came to court for his jury trial, the jail 

placed a leg restraint device on him that locked his leg into place 

if he moved. RP 7 4-75. The restraint device was placed under his 

clothes, so the brace itself was not immediately visible, but it 

visibly restricted his ability to sit, stand, and move, and could be 

noticed by those sitting near him. RP 75, 272-73, 448. 

Defense counsel immediately objected to Mr. Jackson 

wearing this leg brace during the jury trial. RP 74-75. He 

complained that the court had never "made any rulings" about 

the need to restrain him. RP 7 4-75. 

The court did not ask anyone if there was a need to 

restrain Mr. Jackson at his trial. RP 74-75. The court ruled, "I 

don't think there's anything inappropriate in having that 

limited additional security measure employed." RP 75. 

Mr. Jackson wore this restraint device throughout his 

jury trial. He was unable to rise for the jury as everyone else did 

because the leg locked when he moved. RP 75, 448. When he 

testified, he told the court the jury could "actually see" the brace 

because it was next to them. RP 44 7-78. In an effort to make the 

brace less obvious, the court placed Mr. Jackson on the witness 
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stand before the jury entered the courtroom, unlike other 

witnesses. RP 448. It told Mr. Jackson to stay seated when the 

jury entered and to take his oath while seated, unlike other 

witnesses. RP 448. 

Mr. Jackson's trial involved the allegation he committed 

assault in the second degree against his former fiance. CP 76. 

He and his former fiance both testified about the incident, each 

offering different descriptions of what occurred. RP 314-23; RP 

451-58. The court instructed the jury on the law of self-defense 

based on Mr. Jackson's testimony he was defending himself. CP 

41-43. The jury convicted him of the charged offense. 

The Court of Appeals criticized the judge's decision to 

shackle Mr. Jackson for all court hearings, including his jury 

trial, without any individualized inquiry. Slip op. at 9. The two

judge majority faulted Mr. Jackson for failing to prove his 

shackling was substantially injurious, and ruled the improperly 

ordered restraint was harmless error. Slip op. at 10-11. 

Judge Melnick wrote a separate concurrence, noting the 

frequency with which the Court of Appeals had ruled that trial 

courts improperly restrained criminal defendants, yet in every 
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case, they found the error harmless. Slip op. at 16. Judge 

Melnick expressed concern that shackling of defendants without 

individualized inquiry has become "a constitutional violation 

without a remedy." Slip op. at 15. He complained that trial 

courts refuse to adhere to clearly articulated appellate rulings 

and asked that this harmless error test "be revisited." Slip op. at 

15-16. 

D. ARGUMENT 

This Court should grant review of the 
published decision because Mr. Jackson was 
impermissibly shackled during all court 
hearings and his jury trial, and the Court of 
Appeals admitted its inability to stop this 
routine and unconstitutional practice. 

1. It is impermissible for a judge to adopt of blanket 
policy of ordering all accused persons wear 
shackles in court. 

A trial court may not permit an accused person to wear 

physical restraints in the courtroom without first conducting an 

individualized assessment of the need for shackling and then, 

must find compelling circumstances justify the restraints. State 

v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 401, 635 P.2d 694 (1981). Without 

this fact specific assessment, shackling is constitutional error 
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and inherently prejudicial. State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 775, 

24 P.3d 1006 (2001). 

"It is well settled that a defendant in a criminal case is 

entitled to appear at trial free from all bonds or shackles except 

in extraordinary circumstances." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 

842, 975 P.2d 967 (1999); Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 344, 90 

S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970); Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 

622, 626, 125 S. Ct. 2007, 161 L. Ed. 2d 953 (2005); U.S. Const. 

amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. 

Article I, section 22 declares, "In criminal prosecutions 

the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in 

person." This constitutional right entitles an accused person "to 

appear with the use of not only his mental but his physical 

faculties unfettered," unless "impelling necessity demands" 

restraint. State v. Williams, 18 Wash. 47, 50-51, 50 P. 580 

(1897). It recognizes that someone who views a defendant person 

in shackles will "necessarily conceive a prejudice against the 

accused," believing the judge has deemed the person "dangerous 

... and one not to be trusted." Id. (internal citation omitted). 
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Here, the trial court ruled that "as a matter of superior 

court policy, all criminal defendants would be restrained during 

pretrial proceedings without any consideration of motions for 

removal of restraints." Slip op. at 10. It never found there was 

any need to place Mr. Jackson in shackles. Slip op. at 9. The 

policy the court adopted was set by the county jail, which is: 

First appearance "waist chain, cuffs, and leg 
irons" 

All superior court hearings, "full restraints (waist chain, 
other than trials cuffs, and leg irons)" if 

"maximum classification" 
OR 
"waist chain and cuffs" if 
"Minimum or medium custody" 

Trials "Officer will secure either right 
or left leg brace on the 
inmate"; 
Wear jail uniform 

"Jury trial only" Leg brace; 
May wear personal clothing 
rather than jail uniform 

Resp. Brief, App. C at 2-4. 

This policy requires "waist chain, cuffs, and leg irons" for 

all first appearances and "restraint devices" for every court 

hearing, without exception. App. C-3. Even people deemed low 

risk must wear waist chains and cuffs for court hearings. Id. 
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Every person unable to post bail must appear in court with 

chains, cuffs, and possibly leg irons, with the only exception 

being the trial itself, but then a person must wear a leg brace. 

The Court of Appeals agreed the court's adoption of a 

blanket policy mandating restraints for any person held in jail 

was "constitutional error." Slip op. at 9. 

2. This Court prohibited routine shackling based on 
deference to the jail's general policy in Hertzog yet 
courts continue to enforce blanket shackling. 

Despite established law prohibiting a court from chaining, 

cuffing and otherwise physically restraining every detained 

person brought into court as part of a general policy, this 

practice continues. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d at 400-01. Hartzog 

rejected a court policy mandating shackles during all 

proceedings and other cases have followed suit. Id. Other courts 

have similarly ruled. See, e.g, State v. Jaquez, 105 Wn. App. 699, 

709, 20 P.3d 1035 (2001) (relying on case law to conclude that "a 

decision to allow the use of leg restraints based solely on jail 

policy is clearly erroneous" and presumptively prejudicial); State 

v. Walker, 185 Wn. App. 790, 880, 344 P.3d 227 (2015) (any 
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"decision to restrain a defendant must be founded upon a factual 

basis set forth in the record," not deference to the jail's policy). 

Yet, in the case at bar, the court held a multi-defendant 

hearing about the routine shackling of defendants in court. CP 

61. It ruled it would defer to the jail's policy of shackling all 

detained defendants, and would not require any individualized 

showing at any time. CP 65-66. 

3. The Court of Appeals placed the burden on Mr. Jackson 
to prove he was affirmatively injured by the effect of 
shackling, despite the presumption of prejudice. 

When a trial court orders a defendant to be physically 

restrained without analyzing the need for restraints, the trial 

court commits constitutional error. Clark, 143 Wn.2d at 775. 

Unconstitutional shackling is "inherently prejudicial" and this 

prejudice is "particularly apparent where the defendant is 

accused of a violent crime." Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 845. 

The Court of Appeals claimed it was applying a 

constitutional harmless error test. It stated, "an error that 

violates a defendant's constitutional rights is presumed to be 

prejudicial. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 859." Slip op. at 8. It further 

ruled that prosecution bore the burden to "overcome the 
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presumption by showing that the error was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt," again citing Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 859. Id. 

But it did not apply this test. First, for the many hearings 

that occurred without a jury, the Court of Appeals contended it 

must presume "the trial court properly discharged its official 

duties without bias or prejudice." Slip op. at 11, citing In re 

Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). Because it 

presumed shackling had no effect on the judge, it reversed the 

presumption of prejudice it claimed it was applying. 

It did not mention that it was relying on language from 

Davis that arose in the context of assessing a claim that the 

judge harbored actual bias against the defendant. Davis, 152 

Wn.2d at 692. When asserting a claim of actual bias by a judge, 

the moving party must "overcome" the presumption that the 

judge was unbiased by providing "specific facts establishing 

bias." Id. Davis was not addressing a constitutional error for 

which the prosecution bears the burden of proving 

harmlessness. 
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Second, the Court of Appeals insisted Mr. Jackson was 

required to show the restraint "had a substantial or injurious 

effect on the jury's verdict." Slip op. at 12. 

But this is not the test for a constitutional error applied 

in a case on direct review. See Chapmon v. California, 386 U.S. 

18, 23-24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967). On the 

contrary, it is a test used for a trial error and habeas review, 

when principles of finality and the presumption of correctness 

favor are more rigorous standard of review. Brecht v. 

Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 634-38, 113 S. Ct. 1710, 123 L. Ed. 

2d 353 (1993). 

Had the Court of Appeal presumed prejudiced, there was 

reason to believe the jurors knew Mr. Jackson was shackled and 

it affected their perception of his dangerousness and his 

credibility, which were key issues in a self-defense case where 

he testified. He was the only person who could not stand for the 

jury or walk to the witness stand, and when he testified, he sat 

close to the jurors in a place where they could notice his 

restraint. RP 75, 448; see Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 857 (even though 

restraints not overtly visible to jury, "it was clearly possible that 
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the jury could have known the Defendant was restrained" due to 

his restricted movements). 

This Court should grant review because the Court of 

Appeals did not apply a constitutional harmless error test that it 

claimed governed this case, but instead put the burden on Mr. 

Jackson to prove the prejudicial effect in a published decision. 

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' confusion about the 

appropriate standard of review and how to apply that standard 

merits review by this Court as a significant constitutional issue 

that is of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

4. Substantial public interest favors review because the 
Court of Appeals has repeatedly found shackling is 
unconstitutional but harmless error, and is unable to 
stop routine shackling in court. 

As Judge Melnick wrote in his concurring opinion, the 

harmless error standard the Court of Appeals applied has not 

succeeded in remedying this constitutional impropriety despite 

the clarity of the constitutional rule prohibiting the use of 

physical restraints without an individual showing of necessity. 

Slip op. at 15-16. Judge Melnick found at least 14 cases decided 

in the Court of Appeals since February 2015 where appellate 
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courts found a violation of the defendant's right to be free from 

shackles, "yet every case has resulted in harmless error." Slip 

op. at 16 (Melnick, J., concurring). 

Judge Melnick also noted that implicit biases and 

unconscious prejudice follows restraining an accused person, 

even if judges try not to be affected. "Judges are human, and the 

sigh of a defendant in restraints may unconsciously inflame 

even a judicial factfinder." Id., quoting People v. Best, 19 N.Y.3d 

739, 744, 979 N.E.2d 1187 (2012). 

This Court's role includes ensuring the fairness of a 

criminal trial and "the appearance of fairness so essential to 

public confidence in the system" of justice. State v. Bennett, 168 

Wn. App. 197, 203, 275 P.3d 1224 (2012) (quoting Press-Enter. 

Co. v. Superior Court, 464 U.S. 501, 508, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. 

Ed. 2d 629 (1984)). 

The trial court's systemic refusal to adhere to the law 

prohibiting physical restraints on people accused of crimes 

requires this Court's intervention. The trial court's willingness 

to physically shackle a person without an individual inquiry 

undermines the fairness and the appearance of fairness of public 
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trial proceedings. The people who are shackled in court are 

those who are held in jail, unable to post bail. "If justice is not 

equal for all, it is not justice." State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 

680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Routine, non-individualized shackling 

has a disproportionate effect on the fairness of the proceedings 

for poor people. See, e.g., State v. Gonzalez, 129 Wn. App. 895, 

899, 120 P.3d 645 (2005) (prejudices presumption of innocence 

for court to note the defendant was not "able to bail out"); State 

v. Muse, No. 77363-1-I, 2019 WL 2341274, at *9 (2019) 

(unpublished, cited pursuant to GR 14.1) (noting it improperly 

"highlight[s] a defendant's indigency" for court to inform jury he 

has court-appointed counsel over counsel's objection) 

These cases evade meaningful review and remedy. A 

person may plead guilty after being improperly shackled during 

pretrial proceedings, as occurred in State v. Lundstrom, 6 Wn. 

App.2d 388, 394-95, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018), rev. denied, 193 

Wn.2d 1007 (2019), where the court rules the error either 

harmless or moot. This shackling still affects the accused person 

and public's perceptions of the fairness of the proceedings and 

reinforces systemic biases against the accused. 
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The Court should grant review because it undermines the 

fairness of the proceedings to allow routine shackling, and the 

Court of Appeals has expressed a desire for clarification of the 

appropriate standard of review in an effort to remedy this 

problem. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Petitioner John Jackson, Sr., respectfully requests that 

review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).