FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/21/2019 3:57 PM

NO. 97681-3

BY SUSAN L. CARLSON THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN W. JACKSON, SR.,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 51177-1-II Clallam County Superior Court No. 17-1-00218-5

ANSWER AND CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK B. NICHOLS Prosecuting Attorney

JESSE ESPINOZA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

223 East 4th Street, Suite 11 Port Angeles, WA 98362-301

Nancy P. Collins
Washington Appellate Project
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
Email: nancy@washapp.org;

wapofficemail@washapp.org

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT LIMITED REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE THE ISSUE PRESENTED BY THE RESPONDENT MEETS THE CRITERIA UNDER RAP 13.4(b).

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holdings in State v. Damon, State v. Hartzog, State v. Finch, and State v. Turner because it applies the constitutional principles underlying those cases beyond their traditional limits to all pretrial hearings where the risks of danger of prejudice to the defendant's due process rights do not outweigh the court's discretion to implement measures to promote courtroom safety.

"It is well settled that a defendant in a criminal case is entitled to appear at trial free from all bonds or shackles except in extraordinary circumstances." *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 842, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) (citations omitted); *see also United States. v. Bell*, 819 F.3d 310, 322 (7th Cir. 2016) (citing *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 626, 628, 629, 125 S.Ct. 2007, 2012, 161 L.Ed.2d 953 (2005), *abrogated on other grounds by Fry v. Pliler*, 551 U.S. 112, 127 S.Ct. 2321, 168 L.Ed.2d 16 (2007)).

"This is to ensure that the defendant receives a fair and impartial trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 (amendment 10) of the Washington State Constitution." *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 843 (citing U.S. Const. amend. VI, U.S. Const. amend. XIV; and Const. art. I, § 22).

On the other hand, "'[i]t is fundamental that a trial court is vested with the discretion to provide for courtroom security, in order to ensure the safety of court officers, parties, and the public." *Turner*, 143 Wn.2d at 725 (quoting *Hartzog*, 96 Wn.2d at 396); *see also Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 873 (citing *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App. 101, 113–14, 900 P.2d 586

(1995)) ("A trial court has broad discretion to determine if a defendant's conduct is so dangerous or disruptive as to require restraints in the courtroom.").

Thus there is a tension between the defendant's right to be free from the prejudice of being seen in restraints by a jury at trial and the court's duty in ensuring public safety. The court's interests must be given greater weight where the defendant's interests are not implicated.

Although a court must be persuaded by compelling circumstances and must pursue lesser restrictive alternatives before requiring a defendant to appear before *a jury* in shackles, this rule historically does not apply to *non-jury* and *non-guilt* phase proceedings and American Courts have adhered closely to this doctrine. *See Deck v*, 544 U.S. at 626–27 ("In discussing the "deep roots" of this rule, however, the Court noted that 'the rule did not apply at 'the time of arraignment,' or like proceedings before the judge.""); *see also State v. Walker*, 185 Wn. App. 790, 795, 344 P.3d 227 (2015) ("Many subsequent cases, in Washington and other jurisdictions, have addressed the right to appear in court free of physical restraint, but nearly all have addressed the right in the context of a jury trial." (citing *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 842–43, and cases cited within.)).

The cases that address shackling of defendants in the courtroom "turn in large part on fear that the jury will be prejudiced by seeing the defendant in shackles." *See Deck*, 544 U.S. at 630; *Duckett v. Godinez*, 67 F.3d 734, 748 (9th Cir. 1995); *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 344, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 1061, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970). "We traditionally assume that judges, unlike juries, are not prejudiced by impermissible factors." *United States v. Zuber*, 118 F.3d 101, 104 (2d Cir. 1997).

Here, the Court of Appeals applied the principle requiring an individualized showing of a compelling need for restraints during trials and sentencing proceedings to *all* other pretrial hearings. Thus, the holding in *Jackson* undercuts the trial court's interests in public safety and orderly conduct in the courtroom in hearings where there is no risk of prejudice to a defendant's right to a fair trial.

Jackson especially interferes with the court's interest in maintaining safety during first appearances where it is unknown how a defendant will act without restraints. See Br. of Respondent, App. B-2. Defendants are often arrested when still under the stress of a traumatizing event such as domestic violence, or when under the influence of controlled substances or alcohol, or during manic mental health episodes. Br. of Respondent, App. B-2. Requiring a hearing without any precautionary restraints in these appearances undercuts the court's discretion to maintain safety. Further, requiring a hearing and individualized inquiry for every single hearing for every defendant severely curtails courtroom efficiency.

The holding of *Jackson* conflicts with well-established law by extending the right to be free from restraint in jury trials and sentencings beyond traditionally recognized limits and unnecessarily interferes with a court's discretion to take safety precautionary measures in the courtroom. Therefore, the State requests the Court to accept review of this issue.

2. The Court of Appeals, Division II, decision conflicts with the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in *State v. Walker*, by expanding the *Walker* Court's holding by requiring the court to hold a hearing, make an individualized inquiry and findings on the record before using any restraints in all pretrial hearings.

After recognizing that nearly all the cases in Washington and other jurisdictions have only addressed the right to be free from restraint in the context of a jury, the *Walker* Court pointed out that it was expressly invited to extend the right to *all pre-trial hearings* regardless of their nature. *Walker*, 185 Wn. App. at 795 ("Walker asks us to expressly extend the right to include appearances at all court proceedings, regardless of whether a jury is present.").

The *Walker* Court did not do so. Rather, the *Walker* Court, taking a far narrower approach, held that "regardless of the nature of the court proceeding or whether a jury is present, it is particularly within the province of the trial court to determine whether and in what manner, shackles or other restraints should be used." *Walker*, 185 Wn. App. at 797.

Thus, the Walker decision only reminds the court that although

"prison officials may be well positioned to assist the trial court in deciding matters of courtroom security," a trial court must exercise its discretion and may not delegate it to prison officials. *Id.* at 796–97. The *Walker* holding does not take away a court's discretion to consider and adopt a blanket restraint policy in non-jury or non-sentencing proceedings, or for first appearances for that matter.

The *Jackson* decision does not consider that the trial court, in Jan. 2017, had already exercised its discretion by adopting a blanket restraint policy for pretrial proceedings. *See Gallauher* Opinion.

The record demonstrates that the trial court held a consolidated hearing and considered the defense brief objecting to restraints and the State's response and motion to exercise discretion and adopt the jail policy for non-jury proceedings. Br. of Respondent, App. A, D. The State provided the trial court an affidavit by the jail superintendent explaining the rationale and development for the jail policy and the jail policy itself. Br. of Respondent, App. B. After hearing arguments and considering the above the trial court issued a memorandum opinion explaining its consideration and decision to adopt the jail policy until lesser restrictive measures could be put in place. *See Gallauher* Opinion. However, the *Jackson* Court's decision does not appear to consider the above to be an act of discretion by the trial court as required by *Walker*.

Rather, the *Jackson* Court cites to *Walker* and its more recent Division II decision in *Lundstrom* which also cites to *Walker*, to support its conclusion that the trial court abused its discretion because it did not hold a hearing, conduct an individualized inquiry, and make findings on the record in order to determine whether restraints would be justified in a first appearance. *See State v. Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App.2d 388, 394, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018) (citing *Walker*, 185 Wn. App. at 800 (applying the rule requiring court discretion on the use of restraints in the context of a sentencing hearing)).

Courts do not all have the same resources to ensure courtroom security and they may have different layouts presenting unique security issues. *Jackson* has the effect of undercutting court discretion to adopt a blanket restraint policy in first appearances where precautions such as wrist restraints may be prudent. Courtroom safety is not guaranteed and defendants may still act out unpredictably despite an apparent lack of risk factors supporting the use of restraints.

Additionally, requiring a hearing, individualized inquiry, and findings for *every* appearance during the course of a defendant's case is similar to requiring a bail hearing at every appearance. This dramatically interferes with a court's ability to maintain efficient pre-trial dockets. *Jackson* also increases the burden on small jails with limited staff and

resources, which in itself, may further increase security risks.

The decision in *Jackson* conflicts with *State v. Walker* by extending *Walker* well beyond its more narrow holding which prohibits the court from delegating its discretion over courtroom security measures.

The State requests the Court to accept review of this issue.

3. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States is involved in the holding of State v. Jackson.

"It is well settled that a defendant in a criminal case is entitled to appear at *trial* free from all bonds or shackles except in extraordinary circumstances." *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 842 (citations omitted) (emphasis added); *see also Deck*, 544 U.S. at 628, 629. "This is to ensure that the defendant receives a fair and impartial *trial* as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 (amendment 10) of the Washington State Constitution." *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 843 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

As pointed out above, the right to be brought to trial or sentencing free from restraints without a showing of compelling circumstances has never been held to apply to pretrial hearings where prejudice to a fair trial is not at issue. This rule historically does not apply to non-jury and non-guilt phase proceedings and American courts have adhered closely to this doctrine. *See Deck*, 544 U.S. at 626–27 ("In discussing the "deep roots" of

this rule, however, the Court noted that 'the rule did not apply at 'the time of arraignment,' or like proceedings before the judge.'").

The Court of Appeal's decision in *Jackson* relying upon its recent decision in *Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 395, continues to extend the constitutional rights stated above to proceedings in which the risk of prejudice to the defendant's right to a fair trial are not at issue.

This is highlighted in part by Jackson's argument that the *Jackson* Court found the use of restraints in Jackson's first appearance was harmless error, not based upon the harmless error test, but rather, based upon the proposition that "[t]here is a presumption that a trial judge properly discharged his/her official duties without bias or prejudice." *In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004).

It is correct that this standard presumption is not the harmless error test. However, this underscores that the harmless error test has not been applied in the context of pretrial restraints because the right to appear in court free from restraint has not been applied to pretrial hearings. *See Walker*, 185 Wn. App. at 795 (citing Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 842–43 and cases cited therein); *see also Deck*, 544 U.S. at 626; *Duckett v. Godinez*, 67 F.3d 734 (9th Cir.1995); *Jones v. Meyer*, 899 F.2d 883 (9th Cir.1990); *Spain v. Rushen*, 883 F.2d 712 (9th Cir.1989).

The holding in Jackson involves a significant question of

constitutional law because the holding extends constitutional rights to a fair and impartial jury trial to all other pretrial hearings. Therefore, the State requests the Court to review this issue.

4. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The holding in *Jackson* affects courtroom security practices across the State of Washington which, in unison with the policies and practices of jail facilities, were designed to promote safety and efficiency in accordance with constitutional norms. Each courtroom may have unique security issues generated by multiple factors including courtroom layout, location of exit routes, security and staffing resources, access routes to the jail or holding cells, the size of dockets, and the population that it serves.

Accordingly, a court should have discretion to adopt restraint policies and other security measures for non-jury proceedings in accordance with its own security needs as long as they are consistent with a defendant's constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial. Such policies are designed to protect all participants in the courtroom including the employees, practitioners, defendants, and the public at large.

The *Jackson* opinion does not allow a trial court to use its broad discretion in adopting a restraint policy for non-jury pretrial hearings. The State requests that this Court consider whether a court may exercise its

discretion and implement such security measures for non-jury pretrial hearings where prejudice to a defendant's constitutional rights are not at stake. Such a practice could prevent unnecessary risk to the public and courtroom employees or risk of flight. This would also allow the court to promote efficiency rather than requiring a hearing, individualized inquiry, and findings on the record at every pretrial court appearance.

This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED BY THE PETITIONER.

1. The *Jackson* Court properly applied the harmless error test and did not shift the burden to the defendant to prove prejudice.

Jackson argues that the *Jackson* Court did not apply the constitutional harmless error test correctly because it "insisted Mr. Jackson was required to show the restraint 'had a substantial or injurious effect on the jury's verdict.'" Br. of Petitioner at 12 (citing Slip Op. at 12).

The *Jackson* Court, rather than insisting that Jackson prove prejudice, stated "the record must show that the restraints 'had a substantial or injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict.'" *Jackson*, 447 P.3d at 639–40 (citing *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998)) (emphasis added).

"The test for harmless error is whether the state has overcome the

presumption of prejudice when a constitutional right of the defendant is violated when, *from an examination of the record*, it appears the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, . . . " *State v. Clark*, 143 Wn.2d 731, 775, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001) (citing *State v. Belmarez*, 101 Wn.2d 212, 216, 676 P.2d 492 (1984)) (emphasis added).

Here, the record was clear that the leg restraint could not be seen. This was sufficient to meet the State's burden. *Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d at 888 (citing *Rhoden v. Rowland*, 10 F.3d 1457, 1459 (9th Cir. 1993)).

The *Jackson* Court properly applied the harmless error test utilized in cases where restraints are erroneously authorized at trial. Therefore this Court need not review this issue.

2. This Court need not review whether restraint violations should be subject to the harmless error test because restraint violations are not per se prejudicial and Jackson has not shown otherwise that the test is incorrect and harmful.

Jackson argues that this Court should revisit well established case law holding that restraint violations are subject to harmless error review. *See Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d at 888; *Clark*, 143 Wn.2d at 775 (citing *State v. Elmore*, 139 Wn.2d 250, 274, 985 P.2d 289 (1999) (citing *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 859–62)). Jackson suggests that structural error would be more appropriate.

"In order to effectuate the purposes of stare decisis, this court will

reject its prior holdings only upon 'a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful.'" *State v. Otton*, 185 Wn.2d 673, 678, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016) (quoting *In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970)).

Jackson does not argue how the harmless error test is incorrect and harmful. Even cases cited in the concurring opinion show that although a court erred in authorizing restraints for various reasons, even after holding a hearing and exercising its discretion, the errors have not resulted in prejudice to the defendants' right to a fair trial or assistance of counsel. *See State v. Jackson*, 447 P.3d at 641–42 (Melnick, J., concurring).

"Shackling is not per se unconstitutionally prejudicial." *Rhoden*, 10 F.3d at 1459 (quoting *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 342–44, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 1060–61, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970)). "A trial court has *broad discretion* to determine if a defendant's conduct is so dangerous or disruptive as to require restraints in the courtroom. *Finch*, 137 Wn.2d at 873 (citing *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App. 101, 113–14, 900 P.2d 586 (1995)).

Because prejudice does not automatically flow from wearing a restraint at trial, the harmless error test is not incorrect. Further, structural error would not be the appropriate remedy because it would severely chill a trial court's use of its broad discretion in determining security measures

in its courtrooms, and could thereby cause unnecessary risk of danger to

court officials and the public and risk of flight during trial.

Therefore, this Court should decline to review whether

unconstitutional restraint violations are subject to the harmless error test.

VI. **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the

Court grant limited review of the decision of the Court of Appeals to

address whether due process prohibits the court, in its discretion, from

adopting a blanket restraint policy in pretrial hearings and whether a

hearing, individualized inquiry, and findings on the record are required

before restraints may be used in all pretrial hearings.